IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-2311

District Court of Appeal No.: 4D09-2555

ROMILDO MEISTER,

Petitioner,

vs.

ELIZARDO RIVERO, ET AL.,

Respondents.

AN APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

LYNN G. WAXMAN, ATTORNEY LYNN G. WAXMAN, P.A. P.O. Box 32068 Palm Beach Gardens, FL 33420 Florida Bar No. 795010

and

ELLIOT BROOKS, ESQ. YOUNG, BROOKS & PEFKA, P.A. 1860 Forest Hill Blvd., Suite 201 West Palm Beach, FL 33406 Florida Bar No. 172294

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

ROMILDO MEISTER is plaintiff in a pending proceeding for personal injury damages in the Civil Division of the Fifteenth Judicial Circuit, Palm Beach County, Florida, and was appellee before the Fourth District Court of Appeal. ELIZARDO RIVERO and CRUZ IRIZARRY are defendants in the circuit court and were appellants before the district court of appeal. The parties will be referred to as petitioner and respondents and by their proper names. References will be made to "R" record on appeal, "T" hearing transcript of May 27, 2009, and "A" petitioner's appendix.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On August 23, 2006, Meister filed suit against Rivero and Irizarry (Rivero) for personal injury damages resulting from an automobile accident November 3, 2005. (R 1) Rivero was represented by the Law Office of Jason Gelinas; Gelinas and Thomas Crowder are attorneys at the firm. (T 5-8)

On November 19, 2008, pursuant to the Uniform Order Setting Jury Trial, the case was placed on a docket from April 27 until June 5, 2009. (R 82-87, 132, T 3) At the March 27 calendar call, the court set the case as the second back-up trial for May 18. (A, R 132, 82-87, T 3) The court gave both sides the names of the attorneys on the cases ahead of them and told them to keep apprised of the status of

those cases. (A, R 132, T 3) Counsel for the three scheduled cases were under a continuing obligation to contact one another and be aware of the Court's schedule. (R 133, T 3) On May 13, the court's judicial assistant called both sides to inform them that this case would go to trial on May 18. (A, R 132) She left a message on the defendants' lead attorney's voice mail, and called a second time on May 15. (A, R 132) The defendants' lead attorney, however, failed to check his voice mail for the rest of that week, and he failed to contact opposing counsel and counsel for the two cases ahead of him. (A, R 132)

On May 15, two other courts notified the defendants' attorneys that they were being called to trial in different counties. (A) On May 18, the first day of trial, the defendants and their attorneys failed to both appear and to notify the plaintiff and the trial court that other courts had called them to trial. (A) The court called the defendants' attorneys' office and was informed they had commenced trials in other jurisdictions. (A) Although the court could have proceeded with the trial, the court decided to continue the case. (A, R 133)

Plaintiff moved for sanctions, alleging:

The failure of an attorney to appear at a scheduled trial date amounts to disregard of a Court Order, jeopardizes the rights of his own client, damages the rights of his opponent and damages the efficient administration of justice. No claim is made by undersigned counsel that opposing counsel did this knowingly or with intent. (R 127-129)

The motion requested that defendants and their attorneys pay: (1) \$10,400.00 for the fees which the plaintiff's attorney incurred in preparing for and attending trial (twenty-six hours at \$400.00 per hour); and (2) \$350.00 for the wages which the plaintiff lost for having to appear for trial. (A, R 127-129, T 10-14,)

At the hearing on the motion, the defendants' attorneys requested the court to deny the motion because they were unaware the court had called the case to trial. (A) The court responded that the issue was not whether sanctions were going to be imposed, but just the amount. (A) The plaintiff's attorney then testified to the amounts he was seeking. (A) The defendants' lead attorney responded that he believed the sanction should be commensurate with the offense, insisting his conduct was neither in bad faith nor deliberate. (A)

The trial court entered a written order describing the defendants' attorneys' misconduct: (1) failing to keep apprised of the cases ahead of them as the trial court instructed; (2) failing to check their voice mail to see if the trial court called them to trial; and (3) failing to notify the plaintiff and the trial court that other courts called them to trial. (A, R 133) The court ruled it had inherent authority under *Moakley v. Smallwood*, 826 So.2d 221 (Fla.2002) and *Rosenberg v. Gaballa*, 1 So.3d 1149, 1150 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009) "to impose sanctions for conduct such as occurred here." (A, R 133) The court referred to the defendants' attorneys' conduct, alternatively,

as negligence, and imposed sanctions against them in the amount of \$10,750.00. (A, R 134) The sanction was not a "taxable cost" to be assessed at the end of litigation, but was, rather, due and payable immediately. (R 134)

Defendants appealed the order to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, arguing the award of sanctions was an abuse of discretion because their failure to appear at trial was caused by their counsel's negligence rather than bad faith, relying upon *Bitterman v. Bitterman*, 714 So.2d 356, 365 (Fla. 1998) and *Moakley*.

The appellate court reversed the trial court order, finding, under *Moakley*, the judge made neither the required express finding of bad faith conduct, nor the detailed factual findings describing specific acts of bad faith conduct that resulted in the plaintiff's unnecessary incurrence of attorneys' fees. *Rivero v. Meister*, 46 So.3d 1161(Fla. 4th DCA 2010) (A). The appellate court, nonetheless, expressed its concern with the unfairness of this result, and asked this Court to re-examine *Moakley's* requirement of bad faith. *Id*. The appellate court recognized that the defendants' attorneys' three acts of misconduct resulted in the plaintiff's and his attorney's incurrence of \$10,750.00 in fees and costs which was noncompensable because the defendants' attorneys' misconduct did not rise to the level of bad faith. *Id*.

The opinion in *Rivero* noted that *Moakley* does not define bad faith in the majority opinion, *see Moakley*, at 228 (Wells, C.J., concurring), and urged this Court to include at least both intentional misconduct and reckless misconduct in the definition of bad faith. *Rivero*, *id*. The opinion in *Rivero* concluded if the definition of bad faith included reckless misconduct, then the trial court would have been justified in granting the plaintiff's motion for sanctions. *Id*. For that reason the appellate court certified the following question of great public importance:

DOES THE DEFINITION OF "BAD FAITH CONDUCT" IN MOAKLEY V. SMALLWOOD, 826 So.2d 221 (Fla.2002), INCLUDE RECKLESS MISCONDUCT WHICH RESULTS IN THE UNNECESSARY INCURRENCE OF ATTORNEYS' FEES?

Rivero, at 1164. The concurrence addressed the inequity of the current standard of conduct that must be present before sanctions may be imposed under *Moakley*. *Rivero*, *id.*, (Damoorgian, J., concurring specially).

Mandate issued November 19, 2010. Meister filed a notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court November 23, 2010. Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), 9.120(b).

5

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Moakley recognized that the Florida inequitable conduct doctrine, as stated in *Bitterman*, was modeled upon the same federal doctrine which authorized imposition of sanctions for acts of an attorney or party committed "in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons." The *Moakley* Court, however, narrowed its holding for imposition of sanctions to only acts committed in bad faith. Because the Florida doctrine was derived from United States Supreme Court precedent, the more expansive federal definition of "bad faith" therein is, thus, binding upon this Court and should be included in this Court's definition of the type of conduct warranted for imposition of sanctions.

"Vexatious" is defined as "without reasonable or probable cause or excuse; harassing; annoying." *Black's Law Dictionary* 1596 (8th ed. 2004). Federal authorities interpreting courts' inherent and statutory authority to impose sanctions for bad faith or vexatious conduct holds the determination of the propriety of sanctions requires an objective analysis of the attorney's conduct. An attorney's state of mind is not totally irrelevant to this determination, but a court may impose sanctions for egregious conduct even if the attorney acted without malicious intent or bad purpose. "Recklessness" is defined as conduct which grossly deviates from reasonable conduct. *Black's Law Dictionary* 1298-99, *supra*. Federal authorities also find "recklessly" objective conduct enough to warrant sanctions under the bad faith standard even if the attorney does not act knowingly and malevolently.

In this case, sanctions were imposed for (1) failing to keep apprised of the cases ahead of them as the trial court instructed; (2) failing to check their voice mail to see if the trial court called them to trial; and (3) failing to notify the plaintiff and the trial court that other courts called them to trial. Attorneys who ignore docket call instructions are well aware that trial could proceed without them, that opposing party and counsel would be harmed financially by their failure to appear, that judicial administration would be harmed and jurors unnecessarily inconvenienced. This conduct grossly deviated from the conduct of a reasonable attorney and clearly represents recklessness or bad faith. This Court should expand its definition of "bad faith" to include such reckless conduct and approve the order awarding sanctions.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

"BAD FAITH CONDUCT" IN MOAKLEY V. SMALLWOOD, 826

So.2d 221 (Fla.2002), INCLUDES OBJECTIVELY RECKLESS MISCONDUCT WHICH RESULTS IN THE UNNECESSARY INCURRENCE OF ATTORNEYS' FEES

A. Florida Definition of Bad Faith

1. Inequitable Conduct Doctrine

Florida has long recognized the inherent authority of courts to assess attorney's fees against a party or his or her attorney, in the absence of valid statute or contractual provision, as result of inequitable conduct. *Moakley*, at 224, Bitterman, at 365; Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Rowe, 472 So.2d 1145, 1148 (Fla.1985) ("This state has recognized a limited exception to this general American Rule in situations involving inequitable conduct."); see U.S. Savings Bank v. Pittman, 86 So. 567 (Fla. 1920) (attorney who wrongfully obtained decree for sole purpose of paying his fee properly charged with opposing counsel's fees); Lathe v. Florida Select Citrus, Inc., 721 So.2d 1247, 1247 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (attorney who failed to appear at deposition scheduled by court order, and whose purported explanation for failure to appear was false, ordered to pay opposing party's fees); Sanchez v. Sanchez, 435 So.2d 347 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983)(wife's attorney who wasted judicial effort in failing to allow correction of admitted numerical error in judgment ordered to pay husband's attorney's fees).

In Bitterman, this Court approved an award of attorney's fees to an estate's

administrator ad litem and his attorneys, applying the inequitable conduct doctrine when the personal representative of the estate exhibited "egregious conduct or acted in bad faith." The opinion cited Vaughan v. Atkinson, 369 U.S. 527, 530-31, 82 S.Ct. 997, 8 L.Ed.2d 88 (1962) (assessing attorney's fees based upon recalcitrance and callousness) and Rolax v. Atlantic Coast Line R.R. Co., 186 F.2d 473, 481 (4th Cir.1951) (awarding attorney's fees against powerful labor organization because of discriminatory and oppressive conduct toward party of lesser means). The doctrine was to be reserved for those extreme cases where a party acts "in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons." Id., (relying upon Foster v. Tourtelotte, 704 F.2d 1109 (9th Cir. 1983) (quoting F.D. Rich Co. V. United States ex rel. Industrial Lumber Co., 417 U.S. 116, 129, 94 S.Ct. 2157, 2165, 40 L.Ed.2d 703(1974)). Bad faith may be found in actions that led to the lawsuit and in the conduct of the litigation. *Bitterman*, at 365, (citing *Rowe*, *id*.).

2. Moakley v. Smallwood

Moakley involved the application of the inequitable conduct doctrine to a party's attorney for unreasonable issuance of a subpoena to an opposing party's former lawyer. The opinion reiterated the above language from *Bitterman*, and reviewed authorities from both Florida which discussed application of the doctrine

based upon bad faith (*Lathe, id.*) and authorities from foreign jurisdictions which, like *Bitterman*, applied the doctrine based upon bad faith or vexatious conduct.¹

Moakely, at 226, then reasoned that the court's inherent power to assess attorney's fees for bad faith litigation encompassed its authority to tax fees against counsel for willful abuse of the judicial process, relying upon *Roadway Exp., Inc. v. Piper*, 447 U.S. 752, 765-767, 100 S.Ct. 2455, 2464 (1980). *Moakley*, thus, concluded the requirements for an award under this inherent authority are an express finding of bad faith conduct, supported by detailed factual findings describing the specific acts that resulted in the unnecessary incurrence of attorneys' fees. *Id.*, at 227. Additionally, the amount of the award of attorneys' fees must be directly related to the attorneys' fees and costs that the opposing party has incurred as a result of the specific bad faith conduct of the attorney. *Id.* Notice and an opportunity to be heard, including the opportunity to present witnesses and other

¹ *Eberly v. Eberly*, 489 A.2d 433, 449 (Del.Super.Ct.1985) (attorney unreasonably and vexatiously prolonged the proceedings below and increased cost of representation to both parties); *Charles v. Charles*, 505 A.2d 462, 467 (D.C.1986) (attorney repeatedly failed to obey court orders to file an answer or affidavit in lieu thereof); *Lester v. Rapp*, 85 Hawai'i 238, 942 P.2d 502, 505-06 (1997) (counsel's misrepresentation of facts to the court); *State v. Grant*, 487 A.2d 627, 629 (Me.1985) (attorney improperly took money from client); *Daily Gazette Co. v. Canady*, 175 W.Va. 249, 332 S.E.2d 262, 266 (1985) (attorney's vexatious, wanton, or oppressive assertion of a claim or defense not supported by good faith

evidence must be afforded the attorney against whom sanctions are sought. Id.

The concurrence recognized the lack of definition of "bad faith" in the majority opinion and requested rules be developed for this purpose. *Id.*, at 228 (Wells, C.J., concurring), *see Rivero, id.* (noting lack of definition and urging this Court to include at least both intentional misconduct and reckless misconduct in the definition of bad faith).

Moakley, thus, relied upon federal and foreign authorities which defined the inequitable conduct doctrine to include acts committed "in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons," but the *Moakley* Court inexplicably narrowed its holding to only acts committed in bad faith without further explanation. Because the Florida inequitable conduct doctrine is modeled after the same federal doctrine, decisions of the United States Supreme Court construing the same doctrine are, thus, binding upon this Court, *Carnival Corp. v. Carlisle,* 953 So.2d 461, 465 (Fla. 2007). Decisions of federal intermediate appellate courts are also persuasive authority in their interpretation of the doctrine. *Chase Manhattan Mortg. Corp. v. Porcher,* 898 So.2d 153, 156 -157 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). There is a plethora of federal law interpreting both the inequitable conduct doctrine and definition of bad faith which should, therefore, be examined by this Court in

argument for application, extension, modification, or reversal of existing law).

answering the certified question at issue. As argued below, federal law includes a more expansive definition of the type of conduct warranted for imposition of sanctions under the inequitable conduct doctrine and defines "bad faith" to include egregious, vexatious and reckless conduct, and conduct that willfully abused the judicial process.

B. Federal Definition of Bad Faith

1. Inequitable Conduct Doctrine

The general rule in federal courts that a litigant cannot recover his counsel fees does not apply when the opposing party has engaged in willful disobedience of a court order, or when the losing party has "acted in bad faith, vexatiously, wantonly, or for oppressive reasons." *Roadway Exp.*, 447 U.S. at 765-767; *F. D. Rich*, 417 U.S. at 129. A court may tax counsel fees against a party who has litigated in bad faith, as well as assess those expenses against counsel who willfully abuse judicial processes. *Roadway Exp.*, at 766; *see Amlong & Amlong, P.A. v. Denny's, Inc.*, 457 F.3d 1180, 1190 (11th Cir.2006), *as amended* 500 F.3d 1230, 1242 (11th Cir. 2007) (attorney's conduct must be particularly egregious to warrant imposition of sanctions under inherent power; attorney must knowingly or recklessly pursue a frivolous claim or needlessly obstruct litigation of a non-frivolous claim); *Barnes v. Dalton*, 158 F.3d 1212 (11th Cir. 1998) (finding bad

faith, authorizing award of sanctions in court's inherent power, where attorney knowingly or recklessly raises frivolous argument, argues meritorious claim to harass opponent, delays or disrupts litigation, or hampers enforcement of court order). The federal inequitable conduct doctrine, thus, includes "vexatious" and "reckless" conduct in its definition of bad faith.

2. Statutory Sanctions

Authorities construing federal statutory power for imposition of sanctions for bad faith conduct are also elucidating. A federal district court may sanction counsel for conduct that is unreasonable, vexatious, and multiplies the proceedings. 28 U.S.C. §1927 (2010), *Schwartz v. Millon Air, Inc.*, 341 F.3d 1220, 1225 (11th Cir.2003).² An attorney multiplies proceedings "unreasonably and vexatiously" when the attorney's conduct is so egregious that it is tantamount to bad faith. *Amlong*, at 1239³.

²Section 1927 provides that a district court may sanction:

Any attorney or other person admitted to conduct cases in any court of the United States or any Territory thereof who so multiplies the proceedings in any case unreasonably and vexatiously may be required by the court to satisfy personally the excess costs, expenses, and attorneys' fees reasonably incurred because of such conduct.

³*Amlong* discusses the threshold of bad faith conduct for purposes of sanctions under the court's inherent powers, as well as under section 1927. A

Bad faith in the context of §1927 sanctions turns not on the attorney's subjective intent, but on the attorney's objective conduct. A court may impose sanctions for egregious conduct by an attorney even if the attorney acted without the specific purpose or intent to multiply the proceedings.

Id.

The terms "unreasonably" and "vexatiously," therefore, require an evaluation of the attorney's objective conduct. *Id.*, at 1239-1240. "Vexatious" is defined as "without reasonable or probable cause or excuse; harassing; annoying." *Black's Law Dictionary* 1596, *supra*, *Amlong*, *id*. The *Amlong* court relied upon other circuits for its conclusion that the determination of the propriety of sanctions requires an objective analysis of the attorney's conduct. *Id.* ⁴ Although the attorney's state of mind is not totally irrelevant, a court may impose sanctions for

district court's authority to issue sanctions for statutory attorney misconduct is either broader than or equally as broad as the district court's authority to issue a sanctions order under its inherent powers. *Id.*, at 1239.

⁴ *Cruz v. Savage*, 896 F.2d 626 (1st Cir.1990)(attorney need not intend to harass or annoy by his conduct nor be guilty of conscious impropriety; it is enough that attorney acts in disregard of whether his conduct constitutes harassment or vexation); *Knorr Brake Corp. v. Harbil, Inc.*, 738 F.2d 223 (7th Cir.1984) (court need not find that the attorney acted because of malice); *Braley v. Campbell*, 832 F.2d 1504 (10th Cir.1987) (sanctions imposable against attorney personally for conduct that, viewed objectively, manifests either intentional or reckless disregard of attorney's duties to court); *Jones v. Continental Corp.*, 789 F.2d 1225 (6th Cir.1986) (sanctions against attorney for "unreasonable and vexatious" multiplication of litigation despite absence of conscious impropriety).

egregious conduct even if the attorney acted without malicious intent or bad purpose. *Id. See also Cordoba v. Dillard's, Inc.*, 419 F.3d 1169, 1178 (11th Cir. 2005)(award of sanctions

requires either subjective bad faith, which may be inferred from reckless conduct, or mere reckless conduct, which is "tantamount to bad faith").

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