IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC10-2311 L.T. Case No. 4D09-2555

ROMILDO MEISTER,

Petitioner,

v.

ELIZARDO RIVERO, et al.,

Respondents.

On a Certified Question of Great Public Importance From the District Court of Appeal For the State of Florida Fourth District

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

Respectfully Submitted:

H. MICHAEL MUÑIZ, Esq. Appellate Counsel for Respondents HMuniz@jonesvallierelaw.com Florida Bar Number 0177652 JONES & VALLIERE, P.A. f/k/a LAW OFFICE OF JASON GELINAS, P.A. 3000 W. Cypress Creek Road Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33309-1710 Tele. # (954) 979-0980 Fax # (954) 979-2911

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

Even when the Court considers decisions from other jurisdictions including decisions reported by the federal judiciary, on such issues as the inequitable conduct doctrine, when relied upon and adopted, such law then becomes the common law of Florida in the context and within the contours set forth by this Court. Even the High Court long ago recognized its judicial reach across these United States was confined to federal law. *Chesapeake & O. Ry. Co. v. Martin,* 283 U.S. 209, 220-21 (1931) (providing state court could not lawfully follow its own precedent where issue was a federal question decided upon federal law).

²⁰ Compare with United States Sav. Bank v. Pittman, 86 So. 567, 572 (Fla. 1920) (approving an award of attorney's fees against an attorney, who acted in his self-interest and against the wishes of his client); see also Moakley v. Smallwood, 826 So. 2d 221, 224 (Fla. 2002) (discussing Pittman).

II. SINCE FLORIDA PRECEDENTS HAVE ESTABLISHED THAT, ON APPEAL, THE COURT WILL APPLY THE LAW IN EFFECT AT THE TIME OF DECISION, *MOAKLEY* DOES NOT PERMIT REVERSAL OF *RIVERO* OR PERMIT THE IMPOSITION OF SANCTIONS AGAINST RESPONDENTS' TRIAL ATTORNEYS.

The general rule, as well as the Florida rule, is that an appellate court will dispose of the case according to the law prevailing at the time of the appellate disposition, and not according to the law prevailing at the time of rendition of the judgment appealed. Florida East Coast Ry. Co. v. Rouse, 194 So. 2d 260, 262 (Fla. 1967) (per curiam); Brown v. Henrich, 203 So. 2d 183, 184 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967) ("an appellate court must apply the law prevailing at the time it renders its decision") (citing Florida East Coast Ry. Co. v. Rouse, 194 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1967)); Hillhaven Corp. v. Dep't of HRS, 625 So. 2d 1299, 1302 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993) ("it is well established that an appellate court is required to apply the law in effect at the time of its decision, rather than the law prevailing at the time the judgment was rendered below") (citing Florida East Coast Ry. Co. v. Rouse, 194 So. 2d 260, 262 (Fla. 1967); In re Forfeiture of the Following Described Property: 1985 Mercedes Serial No. WDB7AQ4C1FF070173, 596 So. 2d 1261, 1264 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992)); Levine v. Federal Deposit Ins. Corp., 651 So. 2d 134, 136 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (recognizing "the maxim that courts must apply the law in effect when it renders its decision").

In this case, as is typical, there was no intervening change in the law between entry of the trial court's May 27, 2009 Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions²¹ and the District Court's decision in *Rivero v. Meister*, 46 So. 3d 1161 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010). *See Clay v. Prudential Ins. Co. of Am.*, 670 So. 2d 1153, 1154 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996) ("A change in the state of the law, intervening between trial and appeal, seldom occurs and is usually not foreseeable."). Indeed, both the lower court and *Rivero* relied upon this Court's decision in *Moakley v. Smallwood*, 826 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 2002).²² *Rivero v. Meister*, 46 So. 3d at 1163-64. And *Moakley* did not permit the imposition of sanctions against a party's attorneys for reckless, negligent conduct. *Rivero v. Meister*, 46 So. 3d 1161, 1164 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) (Damoorgian, J., concurring) ("*Moakley* simply does not allow for the imposition of sanctions for negligent conduct.").

Furthermore, in order to have been affirmed on appeal before the District Court, the trial court's Order Granting Plaintiff's Motion for Sanctions was required to: (i) be based upon an express finding of bad faith conduct, (ii) supported by detailed factual findings describing the specific acts of bad faith conduct that resulted in the unnecessary incurrence of attorneys' fees, (iii) be predicated on a high degree of specificity in the factual findings, (iv) award a sanction amount directly related to the attorneys' fees and costs that the opposing

²¹ R. App. Exhibit No. 1, at third page.

²² R. App. Exhibit No. 1, at second page.

party incurred as a result of the specific bad faith conduct of the attorney, and (v) be appropriate only after notice and an opportunity to be heard, including the opportunity to present witnesses and other evidence.²³ *Moakley v. Smallwood*, 826 So. 2d 221, 227 (Fla. 2002); *Rivero v. Meister*, 46 So. 3d 1161, 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) (discussing *Moakley* requirements for the imposition of sanctions upon exercise of the trial court's inherent authority).

Having failed to comply with all of the *Moakley* requirements for the imposition of sanctions upon exercise of the trial court's inherent authority, reversal was the required and proper result in *Rivero*. *Id*. at 1164; *Allegheny Cas*. *Co. v. Roche Surety, Inc.*, 885 So. 2d 1016, 1020 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) ("In the instant case, the trial court did not follow the procedures described in *Moakley*, so the award of attorney's fees must be reversed."); *see State, Dep't of Revenue v. Barry S. Franklin & Assoc., P.A.*, 841 So. 2d 608, 608-09 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003) (per curiam) ("The findings of fact do not support an award of attorney's fees pursuant to the inequitable conduct doctrine. … As such, we reverse the award of attorney's fees in favor of appellee.") (citations omitted).

Moreover, the trial court did not comply with the due process requirements specified in *Moakley*.²⁴ *Moakley v. Smallwood*, 826 So. 2d at 226-27. Denial of due process was made evident by the trial court's statement at the hearing on

²³ Petitioner's Petition, at p. 10.

²⁴ Record, at p. 7, 11, 12.

plaintiff's motion for sanctions that "the issue here this morning is not whether sanctions are going to be imposed, just the amount."²⁵ *Rivero v. Meister*, 46 So. 3d at 1163 (quoting the trial court's statement).

The trial judge, having obviously pre-judged plaintiff's motion for sanctions, could not be said to have allowed Defendants' attorneys to exercise their due process right of a real opportunity to be heard. *Moakley v. Smallwood*, 826 So. 2d at 227; *Keys Citizens for Responsible Gov't, Inc. v. Florida Keys Aqueduct Auth.*, 795 So. 2d 940, 948 (Fla. 2001) ("Procedural due process requires both fair notice and a real opportunity to be heard."); *see also Ray v. State*, 403 So. 2d 956, 960 (Fla. 1981) ("This Court has indicated that for error to be so fundamental that it may be urged on appeal, though not properly preserved below, the error must amount to a denial of due process. ... Thus, we are really dealing with denial of due process.") (citations omitted).

Denial of Respondents' attorney's due process rights was raised and, therefore, preserved in the District Court.²⁶ And even if not raised in the trial court, denial of due process or a real opportunity to be heard constituted fundamental error. *Ray*, 403 So. 2d at 960. Given the fundamental error by the trial court, or yet another basis to reverse the trial court's order, this is simply not

 $^{^{25}}$ R. App. Exhibit No. 3, p. 9, lines 12 - 14. Record, at p. 11 - 12. Petitioner's Petition, at p. 3.

²⁶ Record, at p. 7, 11, 12.

the case to consider expanding the undefined definition of bad faith for purposes of the inequitable conduct doctrine.

Even though the trial court, just before the hearing ended, seemed to recede from it's earlier comment,²⁷ the trial court still awarded sanctions against Defendants' attorneys in the specific amount requested by Plaintiff's counsel.²⁸ *Rivero v. Meister*, 46 So. 3d 1161, 1163 (Fla. 4th DCA 2010) ("Therefore, the Court imposes sanctions against the defendants' attorneys in the amount of \$10,750.00."). During the hearing, Defendants' attorney properly argued the sanction should be commensurate with the offense.²⁹ Yet, even before the hearing on plaintiff's motion for sanctions began, the trial court's decision to award sanctions in favor of Plaintiff's counsel and against Defendants' attorneys was constitutionally infirmed and, for all intents and purposes, *fait accompli*.

Petitioner apparently waived or abandoned the due process issue having failed to address it in Petitioner's Petition. *David M. Dresdner, M.D., P.A. v. Charter Oak Fire Ins. Co.*, 972 So. 2d 275, 281 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008) (per curiam) (holding appellant failed to argue the point in his initial brief and deeming any potential issue on the point to have been waived or abandoned) (citing *City of Miami v. Steckloff*, 111 So. 2d 446, 447 (Fla. 1959); *Polyglycoat Corp. v. Hirsch*

²⁷ R. App. Exhibit No. 3, p. 18, lines 21 – 24.

²⁸ R. App. Exhibit No. 1, at third page. Record, at p. 6. Petitioner's Petition, at p. 3. Plaintiff's counsel did not have time records. R. App. Exhibit No. 3, at p. 10 - 11. ²⁹ R. App. Exhibit No. 3, p. 14, line 24 – p. 17, line 6.

Distribs., Inc., 442 So. 2d 958, 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)); *North v. State*, 32 So. 2d 915, 919 (Fla. 1947) ("This issue has not been properly argued or presented by any question in the brief of appellant, and therefore we must assume that the point has been abandoned.") (citations omitted).

(A) <u>The Court Should Not Change the Inequitable Conduct Doctrine By</u> <u>Defining Bad Faith to Include Reckless Negligent Conduct But, If</u> <u>The Court Determines It Should, the Change in the Law Should Only</u> <u>Apply Prospectively.</u>

"As a general rule, a decision of a court of last resort which overrules a prior decision is retrospective as well as prospective in its application unless declared by the opinion to have prospective effect only." *Melendez v. Dreis & Krump Mfg. Co.*, 515 So. 2d 735, 736 (Fla. 1987); *Kalisch v. Kalisch*, 646 So. 2d 292, 292 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (citing *Melendez*) (other citations omitted); *City of Daytona Beach v. Amsel*, 585 So. 2d 1044, 1046 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) (citing *Melendez*) (other citations omitted); *D'Aquisto v. Costco Wholesale Corp.*, 816 So. 2d 1231, 1232 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002) (citing *Melendez*). A court is neither required to apply, nor prohibited from applying a decision retrospectively. *Sult v. Weber*, 210 So. 2d 739, 747 (Fla. 4th DCA 1968) (citing *Linkletter v. Walker*, 381 U.S. 618, 629 (1965)).

The Court is constitutionally permitted, in the exercise of its judicial prerogative, to determine whether any newly announced rule of law should be applied retroactively, or on a prospective basis only so as not to be available to the person who has raised the issue. *Smith v. Brantley*, 400 So. 2d 443, 453 (Fla. 1981) (England, J., concurring, in part, dissenting, in part) (citing *Great Northern Ry. Co. v. Sunburst Oil & Refining Co.*, 287 U.S. 358 (1932); *Wainright v. Stone*, 414 U.S. 21 (1973)). Statutes or judge-made rules of law are hard facts on which people must rely in making decisions and in shaping their conduct. This fact of legal life underpins our modern decisions recognizing the doctrine of nonretroactivity. *Int'l Studio Apt. Ass'n, Inc. v. Lockwood*, 421 So. 2d 1119, 1122 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (citing *Lemon v. Kurtzman*, 411 U.S. 192, 199 (1973)).

Some courts have adopted the view that the rights, positions, and courses of action of parties who have acted in conformity with, and in reliance upon, a final decision of the Court, should not have those rights, positions, and courses of action impaired or abridged by reason of a change by a subsequent decision of the same court overruling its former decision. *Florida Forest & Park Serv. v. Strickland*, 18 So. 2d 251, 253 (Fla. 1944); *see Frazier v. Baker Material Handling Corp.*, 559 So. 2d 1091, 1092 (Fla. 1990) (discussing exception to general rule recognized in *Strickland*); *Int'l Studio Apt. Ass'n, Inc. v. Lockwood*, 421 So. 2d 1119, 1120 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982) (same). Accordingly, such courts have given to such overruling decisions a prospective operation only. *Strickland*, 18 So. 2d at 253 (string citations omitted).

In *Lockwood*, the Fourth District recognized the High Court's decision in *Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson*, 404 U.S. 97, 106 (1971), which promulgated a three phase test to determine whether a decision should have retroactive effect. *Int'l Studio Apt. Ass'n, Inc. v. Lockwood*, 421 So. 2d at 1121. Formulating that test the

court stated:

First, the decision to be applied nonretroactively must establish a new principle of law, either by overruling clear past precedent on which litigants may have relied or by deciding an issue of first impression whose resolution was not clearly foreshadowed. Second, it has been stressed that we must weigh the merits and demerits in each case looking to the prior history of the rule in question, its purpose and effect, and whether retrospective operation will further or retard its operation. Finally, we have weighed the inequity imposed by retroactive application, for where a decision of this Court could produce substantial inequitable results if applied retroactively, there is ample basis in our cases for avoiding the injustice or hardship by a holding of nonretroactivity. [Internal citations omitted].

Id. (citing Chevron Oil Co. v. Huson, 404 U.S. 97, 106-07 (1971)).

If this Court were to expand the undefined definition of bad faith in *Moakley*, for purposes of the inequitable conduct doctrine to include reckless, negligent conduct, the Court would certainly establish a new principle of law in Florida, either by overruling clear past precedent, *Moakley* and *Bitterman*, on which litigants have relied as well as by deciding an issue of first impression whose resolution was not clearly foreshadowed.

Second, the prior history of the rule, that a trial court possesses the inherent authority to impose attorney's fees against a party or an attorney for bad faith conduct, was intended for the rare and extreme cases. It seems that retrospective operation of a new rule will neither further nor retard the rule, so that the second factor in the Chevron test is also satisfied. *Int'l Studio Apt. Ass'n, Inc. v. Lockwood*, 421 So. 2d at 1122.

Finally, retroactive application of an expanded definition of bad faith to include reckless negligent conduct, could produce substantial inequitable results if applied retroactively, particularly, to the thousands of litigants across Florida and their attorneys, whose cases are in the pipeline and have not yet reached final resolution. Moreover, such a change in the law could only concern substantive law, which is presumed to apply prospectively. Basel v. McFarland & Sons, Inc., 815 So. 2d 687, 696 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002). Having met all three phases of the Chevron test, Int'l Studio Apt. Ass'n, Inc. v. Lockwood, 421 So. 2d at 1121, if the Court should decide to expand the undefined definition of bad faith in *Moakley* to include reckless negligent conduct, the Court should declare by its opinion that the new rule will have prospective effect only. See Smith v. Brantley, 400 So. 2d 443, 453 (Fla. 1981) (England, J., concurring, in part, dissenting, in part) (identifying the two factors regarded as the touchstones for determining pure prospectivity; the contrary state of the law at the time and substantial reliance).

Petitioner apparently waived or abandoned the retrospective/ prospective application issue having failed to address it in Petitioner's Petition. *David M.*

Dresdner, M.D., P.A. v. Charter Oak Fire Ins. Co., 972 So. 2d 275, 281 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008) (per curiam) (holding appellant failed to argue the point in his initial brief and deeming any potential issue on the point to have been waived or abandoned) (citing *City of Miami v. Steckloff*, 111 So. 2d 446, 447 (Fla. 1959); *Polyglycoat Corp. v. Hirsch Distribs., Inc.*, 442 So. 2d 958, 960 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)); *North v. State*, 32 So. 2d 915, 919 (Fla. 1947) ("This issue has not been properly argued or presented by any question in the brief of appellant, and therefore we must assume that the point has been abandoned.") (citations omitted).

III. THE COURT SHOULD DECLINE THE INVITATION TO EXPAND AFFIRMATIVE ACTS OF BAD FAITH, FOR PURPOSES OF THE INEQUITABLE CONDUCT DOCTRINE, TO INCLUDE A FAILURE TO ACT OR RECKLESS, NEGLIGENT CONDUCT.

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